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The only house that Benjamin Franklin ever owned
stood in an airy courtyard off Market Street in Phila-

delphia. He once called it "a good House contrived

to my Mind," but in reality it belonged as much to
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sad destruction and of the fitting memorial raised on
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Benjamin Franklin lived in the house

for little more than seven years, but

every part bore his imprint. It was
constructed according to his plan. He
supervised its furnishing from
abroad. At 79, still a vigorous figure

honored on two continents, he was

busy adding rooms for his daughter's

growing family and a library for his

books and scientific instruments. It

was, he once said, "a good House
contrived to my Mind/'

For nearly half a century the house

stood in the middle of an interior court

off Market Street— not far from the

print shop that brought him wealth

and fame, just a few blocks from the

State House whose politics claimed so

much of his time. While he lived, the

warmth of family and friends filled the

house— fires in the parlor, children

romping in the hallway, music and
laughter, old friends, good books, long

visits in the evening. When he died,

the house began a slow dissolution. In

1812, it followed its maker into the

dust, demolished by relatives who
valued the building less than the land

on which it stood.

All that we have today are a few

scraps of evidence and some brick

and mortar that escaped the wreck-

ers. Far too little to re-create the his-

toric scene yet ample for a memory
of Franklin to rise on this site. A
steel frame now outlines the original

house. Inscriptions on the paving and
remnants of foundations mark the

findings of archeologists and histori-

ans. Best of all, Claude-Anne
Lopez's graceful narrative that fol-

lows pieces out in our imagination

the domestic life of one of the most
remarkable figures from the Ameri-
can past.

Franklin Court is today a mix

of the old, the new, and the

restored. The Market Street

houses (shown on the two
previous pages) are meticulous

exterior restorations. Their

interiors are adapted to a

variety of interpretive uses: a

working 18th-century print

shop and book bindery, an

exhibit of historical archeology

and architecture, and a com-
memorative post office. On the

opposite page, steel frames,

rising eloquently in the original

courtyard, outline Franklin 's

vanished house and the print

shop he built in 1786for his

grandson. The arbor above is a

free interpretation of Georgian
garden furniture, built heavier

for current use.
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A visitor to Franklin Court can

step, if only briefly and par-

tially, into the world of the

18th-century printer. The scene

approximated today at 320-322

Market is the printing office

and bindery of Benjamin
Franklin Bache, namesake and
protege of his illustrious grand-

father. From 1790 to 1798, he

published an influential and ag-

gressively partisan newspaper
near this site.

Baches creed, which he

stated in his first issue, has a

modern ring: "The Freedom

of the Press is the Bulwark of
Liberty. An impartial News-
paper is the useful offspring

of that Freedom. Its object is

to inform .... The Publisher

can safely promise that no con-

sideration whatever shall in-

duce him blindly to rubmit to

the Influence ofany man or

set of men: His press shall be

free."

Bache drew his political

principles from his grand-

father's and Jefferson 's brand

of republicanism. He was sus-

picious of executive authority,

legislative secrecy, the intru-

sions of the church, and the

intentions of the military.

When he opposed war with

France in 1797, public feeling

ran so high against him that

he had to carry a club when he

walked down the street. But

neither villification in the

opposition press nor personal

attack intimidated him. Even
after he was arrested on a

charge of libel for denouncing

the foreign policy of the Adams
administration, he returned

to the attack when he was

released on bail, persuaded

that he was defending the

rights of the people. At the

height of these political pas-

sions, the yellow fever revisited

the city. Bache did not flee to

the country, as he usually did

in summer, but stayed by his

presses at Franklin Court and
was struck down. While his

enemies rejoiced, his widow
published a fitting epitaph for

this courageous but now little

known newspaperman: "In

these times, men who see, and
think, andfeel for their coun-

try and posterity can alone

appreciate the loss: the loss

of a man inflexible in virtue,

unappalled by power or perse-

cution, and, who, in dying

knew no anxieties but what

were excited by his apprehen-

sions for his country— and

for his young family.
"
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Prologue

Previous page: Many items be-

longing to Franklin are in the

collection of the American
Philosophical Society. The
document is the honorary de-

gree Harvard gave Franklin in

1753. Other objects: a miniature

of Louis XVI, which the king

personally gave Franklin when
he departed France in 1 785; a

traveling chess set; and the

family 's expense book.

The town itself was only some 40

years old and so small that the little

group rowing toward it on the Dela-

ware, Saturday night October 5,

1723, feared they had already passed

Philadelphia and put to shore to

await the morning. The next day they

rowed on. At the Market Street

wharf, a 17-year-old apprentice

printer who had run away from Bos-

ton got off the boat and started up
the street, tired, ravenous, almost

penniless, fearful of being spotted

and sent home. He bought three

puffy rolls at a bakery on Second
Street and munched on one as he

carried the other two under his arms.

Thus he continued to Fourth Street,

where a girl his own age, standing

outside her father's house, observed

him. She thought him an awkward
sight, with his dishevelled hair, dirty

clothes, and pockets bulging with

stockings. Such was Benjamin Frank-

lin's introduction to Philadelphia . . .

and to his future wife.

By 1763 the town had more than

doubled in size and the former runa-

way apprentice, now 57, was very

well off. Already famous in the scien-

tific world, he was becoming increas-

ingly important in public affairs. He
had spent the last 5 years in England
on a political mission, and now that

he was home—as he thought for

good—he decided the time had come
to build a house for himself and his

wife Deborah, the very girl who had
caught sight of him from her door-

step 40 years earlier. The house was
to stand only steps away from the

spot where they had first spied each

other, on Market Street below

Fourth.

Twelve years later, however,

Franklin still had not yet seen his

own home. Shortly after construction
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In the age of Franklin, Phila-

delphia was the political, intel-

lectual, and cultural center of
the colonies.

began, he had been sent off to Lon-

don once more to represent Pennsyl-

vania and could not supervise the final

work. His family had to move in

without him, and his wife died before

they had ever shared their home.
When he eventually came back, in

May 1775, he hoped to live out his

days at Franklin Court with his mar-

ried daughter and her growing fam-

ily. But he had come home to a revo-

lution, and within 18 months he was
off again on another long mission,

this time to France to secure aid for

his embattled country.

In September 1785, cannon an-

nounced Franklin's last landing at the

Market Street wharf. The jubilant city

gave him a hero's welcome. He was
carried in triumph up Market Street,

bells ringing the while, and into

Franklin Court. He was now 79 and

really home at last, with almost five

years left to spend in his house.

Philadelphia's

Uncommon Citizen

The house was carefully planned,

soberly elegant on the exterior, more
elaborate within, and, like him, it

never quite stopped growing while he

lived. Up-to-date, innovative in some
of its features, comfortable without

ostentation, it bespoke the man who
nourished, molded, and disciplined

himself into one of the most extraor-

dinary figures of all ages. By the time

he started building the house, his

various careers might have filled the

lives of several men.
First there was the printing career,

the very core of his professional

being. "Benjamin Franklin, Printer,"

he proudly called himself in his will.

His formal education—all two years

of it—had stopped when he was 10,

for there was hardly any money to

spend on the 15th child of a humble

13
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Philadelphia was a rising

commercial town of 10.000

people when young Franklin

stepped ashore at the Market
Street wharf in 1723. This

pleasant view from across the

Delaware was painted by one
Peter Cooper about that time.

On the map at right. William

Penn s original survey (1683}

for the new town he founded,

are marked the several places

Franklin lived and worked
between his arrival as a youth

and the construction of his

own house in a court off

Market Street 40 years later.

He obviously found life in these

few blocks satisfying.
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Boston soapmaker. At 12 he was ap-

prenticed to his brother James, just

back from London with printing

equipment, books, magazines, and a

store of new ideas. Benjamin quickly

learned to handle the tools, he de-

voured the books and absorbed the

new ideas. In spite of conflict with

his brother, he adopted James' irrev-

erent views toward organized religion

and overbearing authority. When
Benjamin fled at 17, he was running

away from the Boston establishment

and its growing resentment of his

outspoken ways just as much as from
his brother's blows.

After seven years of false starts

and frustrations, the runaway man-
aged to open his own printing shop

in Philadelphia. It flourished. In due
course, he was entrusted with the

printing of paper money and legal

documents for Pennsylvania and
neighboring colonies. He published

and sold books, he entered the

wholesale paper business, and he fi-

nanced the establishment of other

printers in New York, New Haven,
Charleston, and Antigua.

Along with printing went a highly

rewarding career in journalism. As
an apprentice, he had helped his

brother bring out The New-England
Courant, whose satirical jibes had
caused James to be jailed more than

once. When he ran his own Pennsyl-

vania Gazette, Franklin emphasized
news rather than commentary. His fi-

nancial breakthrough came with the

publication in 1732 of Poor Richard's

Almanack, which for 25 years spread

the gospel of industry, frugality, and
the homely virtues throughout Penn-
sylvania and oeyond.

Entwined with printing and pub-
lishing, and equally reflecting his pas-

sion for communication, was his ca-

reer in the postal system. Postmaster

of Philadelphia for 16 years, Deputy
Postmaster-General for all the colo-

nies during the next 21, he improved
the network of roads, revamped the

organization, speeded up the mail by
moving it by night as well as by day,

and put the service for the first time

on a sound financial basis.

Deborah Read, whom he took as

his wife in 1730, was his partner and
constant assistant. Almost as indus-

trious as her husband and—by his

own admission—even more frugal,

Deborah ran a general store that of-

fered all varieties of dry goods plus

such items as ointments concocted by

her mother "against the Itch" and

the high-quality "crown soap" manu-
factured by Franklin's brother John
from a secret recipe. Deborah was
also raising their daughter Sally and

William, a boy born to Franklin of

an unknown woman some time

around 1730. Their other child, Fran-

cis Folger, died of smallpox at age 4.

By their mid-40s, the hard-working

and thrifty couple had saved enough
to live comfortably on investments,

and Franklin was free to withdraw
from business and follow his own in-

clinations: scientific research and a

more active involvement in civic af-

fairs. Science, which he fondly called

"philosophical amusement," gave

him six of the most exciting years of

his life—a chance to use his imagina-

tion, his powers of deduction, his

manual skills, all this in the company
of eager fellow-workers. Those years

culminated in his daring—some even

thought impious—assertion and proof

that electricity was a force of nature

and that lightning, far from being an

awesome manifestation of God's ar-

bitrary powers, could be tamed by

man.

u



rinter and Journalist

The printing press was Frank-

lin 's way to wealth and early

fame. He learned the trade as

a youth at his brothers side in

Boston, blossomed as an

anonymous writer of essays—
the celebrated ''Silence Do-
good" papers—for his

brother's paper, worked as a

journeyman in Philadelphia

and London, and by age 24

owned his own printing busi-

ness and newspaper. He was

the best writer of his day in

America and one of the best

read. From his press poured a

steam of pamphlets, essays,

magazines, aphorisms, and al-

manacs that entertained his

countrymen and helped to

shape the distinctive American
folkways of his time.

M.T. CICERO'S

CATO MAJOR,
OK HIS

DISCOURSE

OLD-AGE:
Wish EJt^aaasry NOTES.

Ftitttd «a &U ty B. FRANKUK,
Maecxuv.

B

Franklin's edition of Cicero's

Old Age, 1744, is a work of
elegant graphic design.
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Franklin's almanac spread his

ideas of industry and frugality

among the common people.
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Franklin 's searching mind was

equally at home in both the

theoretical and the practical.

He made fundamental contri-

butions to the understanding

of electricity, charted the

Gulf Stream, investigated the

weather, and invented such

useful everyday gadgets as the

Franklin stove and bifocals.

This Leyden jar (a device for
storing an electrical charge)

belonged to Franklin. He ap-

parently acquired it in France
while serving as ambassador

and brought it home with him

when he returned in 1 785. It

is now part of the scientific

collection of the American
Philosophical Society.
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Franklin was probably the first

scientist to study the Gulf
Stream. He learned about it

from Nantucket whalers, who
used it going to and from the

whaling grounds. In 1769,

Franklin mapped the stream-

in-the-ocean for ship captains

carrying the mail between

America and Europe. The
chart above, recently discov-

ered in the Bibliotheque Na-
tionale, is one of the first de-

scriptions of that stream.

On his last voyage across

the Atlantic, in 1785 when he

was 79, Franklin was still busy

studying the ocean. He meas-
ured the temperature of the

water at different fathoms and
noted the currents and colors

of the water and the gulf weed
floating by. Out of this study

came one of his most interest-

ing works, his Marine Obser-
vations, into which he poured
a lifetime of thought about
ships and the sea.

Franklin invented bifocals in

1784 while living in France.

Finding it troublesome to keep

switching between two pairs of

glasses, he "had the glasses cut

and half of each kind associ-

ated in the circle."

19
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The Library Company, which

Franklin founded in 1731, was

the first subscription library in

North America.

The public enterprises he launched

or helped organize and finance in-

cluded Philadelphia's first lending li-

brary, its first hospital and fire insur-

ance company, plans for paving and
lighting the town streets and policing

them at night, a local militia, the

American Philosophical Society, and
the Philadelphia Academy that later

became the University of Pennsylva-

nia. Beyond city and province, he in-

itiated the Albany Plan of Union for

the colonies and a project to explore

the Arctic, to name only two of his

far-reaching schemes.

So much participation in public life

inevitably led into politics. In 1751,

Franklin was elected a member of

the Pennsylvania Assembly, which he

had served the previous 15 years as

clerk. He soon became one of its

leaders and thus embroiled in the

controversy between the Assembly
and the Penn family, absentee pro-

prietors of the colony, over taxation

of their vast landholdings. This be-

came a particularly sore point during

the French and Indian War
(1754—63), when the problem of rais-

ing money for the common defense

turned acute. Though already in his

50s, Franklin played an active role in

this war, especially in organizing de-

fenses on the frontier.

In 1757, the Pennsylvania Assem-
bly entrusted him with the task of

presenting its case about taxation to

the Privy Council in London.
Flanked by his inseparable compan-
ion, his son William, he sailed off to

England. He eventually reached a

satisfactory compromise with the

Penns, but his mission, originally

meant to last a year at the most, kept

him abroad for five.

By the time he returned in 1762,

he had received an honorary degree

^n
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Franklin had a hand in the

founding of the Pennsylvania

Hospital, the first in the colo-

nies when it opened in 1752.

When the campaign to raise

money for the hospital was

lagging, he threw his support

behind it and brought in much
public and private money. The
view above shows the exterior

plan circulated by the

promoters.

Fire was the scourge of colo-

nial towns. To spread the risks,

Franklin and others organized

the first American fire insur-

ance company in 1 752, the

Philadelphia Contributionship.

A wooden plaque with a seal

of interlocked hands (left)

identified protected houses.

The academy Franklin pro-

posed for the education of
youths 8 to 16 took in its first

students in 1749. The curricu-

lum was more practical and
ornamental than classical.

91



from St. Andrews University in Scot-

land and become known all over the

world as Doctor Franklin. William

had taken a law degree in London,
married a refined young woman from
Barbados, and was about to be in-

stalled as Royal Governor of New
Jersey. The adolescent Sally had ma-
tured into a young lady of 19, musi-

cally accomplished and marriageable.

Deborah must have been immensely
relieved that her husband had de-

cided not to remain abroad perma-

nently, as rumors had it, nor had

tried very hard to persuade her to

cross the Atlantic. He had suggested

once that she join him in England
with Sally, for whom he had found

an eligible young man, but Deborah
refused and he did not insist. Her
terror of the sea, he knew, was invin-

cible.

Doctor Franklin Builds a House

1—

1

f3}_£}_

This sketch of the house's first

floor is in Franklin's own
hand. It shows ihe stairway on
the north, a hall off-center

running through the house,

and the large, ornate dining

room with its fireplace.

Franklin now talked of settling down
for good in Philadelphia. The Assem-
bly, to demonstrate its satisfaction

with the agreement he worked out

with the Penns, voted him a salary

retroactive for five years. With this

sizable sum of cash, he started build-

ing his house. Franklin had been

buying land in Philadelphia for more
than 20 years. To Deborah's inherit-

ance, he added adjoining strips pur-

chased little by little from her

brother and sister and two neighbors,

until he owned a substantial

piece of property, 75 feet wide and

300 feet deep, between Third Street

and Fourth, extending from Market
(or High Street as it was then called)

halfway to Chestnut. Franklin was far

too gregarious to consider moving
out to the country, even for the sum-

mer. While expressing the highest re-

gard—theoretically—for agriculture

,
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he was, unlike Washington, Jeffer-

son, and most of the gentry of his

day, a city boy through and through.

His choice of site did not symbol-

ize a break with the past. The prop-

erty was little more than a block

from the State House and in the

midst of the friends of his youth, the

artisans, craftsmen, and shopkeepers,

whom he called "leather apron

men.
1

' His immediate neighbors were

a tailor, a tanner, a saddletree

maker, a joiner, an innkeeper, a wig

maker, a printer. Yet by building in

the airy space of an inner court

—

Deborah once exclaimed that at the

height of summer their charming en-

tryway was the pleasantest place in

town—he did not conceal that he had

gone up in the world.*

The man just returned from Eng-
land in 1762 was infinitely more so-

phisticated than the creator of Poor
Richard who had left home five years

earlier. Under the tutelage of his

London landlady, Mrs. Margaret Ste-

venson, he had developed a taste for

elegant furniture, good china and sil-

ver, fine crystal. He had shipped so

many crates of household goods over

the ocean that he now needed a

showcase to display his new posses-

sions, a house that would combine
the native ingenuity of its owner with

the European refinements he had re-

cently discovered.

"If you are going to build a house,

build it modern," he once wrote.

Functionally, his house would be

avant-garde. It would be protected,

of course, by the lightning rod of his

own devising. It would be heated by
his brainchild, the Pennsylvania fire-

* This arrangement was not unusual in Phila-

delphia. Several other blocks near the center of
town had been cut up into "courts" to use

space more economically.

Deborah and Benjamin Frank-

lin. Benjamin Wilson 's portraits

show the pair in their early 50s.

23



place; thanks to the clever arrange-

ment of its flues, the "Franklin

stove" provided twice the heat of

earlier fireplaces, distributed it more
evenly, and used only one-fourth the

amount of fuel. The kitchen, too, as

he planned it, would benefit from his

research in the physical properties of

air; it would boast the most ingenious

contrivances available for disposing

of steam, smoke, and odors. "A
good House," as he later put it,

"contrived to my Mind."
Work on the new house started in

the spring of 1763 with all the cheer

and high hopes that generally accom-

pany such undertakings. Except for a

draftsman's plan of the second floor

and a sketch by Franklin of the first

floor, all traces of the building con-

tract and the architectural plans have

disappeared. Franklin obviously

called upon the best people available

and had them use the best material.

To design and build the house, he

turned to Robert Smith, one of the

foremost carpenter-architects in the

colonies. Smith had established his

reputation as the builder of numer-
ous houses, churches, and public

buildings. Franklin's old friend Sam-
uel Rhoads, a wealthy merchant and
the designer of the Pennsylvania

Hospital, agreed to act as overseer.

Excavation had hardly begun when
Franklin left on an inspection tour of

colonial post offices. By the time he

returned home seven months later,

the foundations, brick walls, floors,

and roof were nearly done, and the

interior was ready for finish work.

For reasons that are unclear—per-

haps because Philadelphia was enjoy-

ing a building boom and labor was in

short supply—the pace slowed down
after this brisk beginning. It took two
years from the start of work until the

family could move in, and almost two

more after that for work to progress

to the point that an insurance policy

could be issued.

More ominous than the delays in

construction, as far as Deborah
Franklin was concerned, were the

new political circumstances that

threatened to turn her dream of quiet

companionship into a long nightmare

of separation and anguish. The year

1764 was a tumultuous one in Penn-

sylvania's history. It opened with a

horrifying massacre of friendly Indi-

ans by the Paxton Boys, a group of

frontier settlers who had been exas-

perated by the raids of hostile Indi-

ans. Franklin wrote an impassioned

tract against such a blind form of

backlash. Even though the surviving

Indians were eventually offered pro-

tection in Philadelphia, the convic-

tion grew in him that Governor John
Penn, the proprietor's nephew, was
in collusion with the settlers, who
wanted to take the law into their own
hands. Franklin saw this as an oppor-

tunity to rid the colony for good of

proprietary government and place it

under the direct control of the

Crown. All would then be well, or so

he thought. Under Franklin's prod-

ding, the Assembly petitioned the

King in May to take over the

colony's government.

Discord was in the air through the

summer. Franklin expected the

worst
—"The Proprietary Party . . .

will . . . either demolish me or I

them"—but nothing so dramatic hap-

pened. Work continued on the

house. The plasterers finished their

work in August, and Franklin himself

paid the bill of £25. That fall, he ran

for re-election to the Assembly. In

the course of the campaign—one of

the most scurrilous ever in the colo-



nies—a number of sordid pamphlets

were circulated on both sides, one of

which lingered cruelly on the mysteri-

ous circumstances of William's birth.

In the election, Franklin's party won
a majority, but he lost his seat. For a

brief moment, his wife may have

imagined a spell of domestic peace,

but within days of his defeat, he was

entrusted with another mission to

England to press the cause of Penn-

sylvania against the Penns. After

leaving £550 with the builders to

carry on work, he departed for Lon-

don in early November, his friends'

good wishes, he said, filling his sails.

Distance seemed to rekindle his in-

terest in the unfinished house.

Through the spring of 1765, his let-

ters home were full of eager inquiries

and no end of advice. He gave de-

tailed instructions on the way to hang
the mohair curtains in the blue room;
he wished he had given orders not to

paint until he came back; he fretted

over the installation of the new
kitchen, not quite trusting his wife to

understand the mechanical intricacy

of the exhaust system, "as it is a

mere Machine, and being new to

you, I think you will scarce know
how to work it." He asked for a

sketch of the property, and Deborah
got her brother to draw him one,

which is still in existence. She bought

a sizable lot next to their own, and
he was glad she did, though he

thought the £900 she paid for it too

steep a price. The house looked so

much better, she assured him, with

an equal space on each side.

There it finally stood, all brick, 34-

feet square, three stories high with

three rooms to a floor, set in the cen-

ter of an ample court facing Market
Street some 175 feet away. In May
the family moved in, even though the

Market Street

Franklin Court was two decades
and more in the building. This

plan shows the property after

Franklin 's improvements in

17Hb: three new houses on Mar-
ket Street, a printing office

straddling the entrance way,

and the additional to the origi-

nal house. The location of the

printing office is conjectural:

the archeologists could find no
trace of it.
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house was far from ready. Deborah
didn't complain about the piles of

rubble, the disorder, the slow tempo
of work. It was her husband, rather,

who fumed from faraway London,
wondering when the well would be

dug and the fences put up, when she

would start gardening, when and

where the rubbish would go. He
bombarded her with instructions:

never be without tubs to catch the

rainwater lest the foundations suffer

... be careful with fire . . . don't oil

the floors until my return ... be

sure and lock up my books and pa-

pers . . . send me the measurements

of the windows, the chimney, the

buffet. She told him that their friends

had gathered for a housewarming in

the new dining room. He obviously

expected an avalanche of compli-

ments and was peeved when she re-

ported none: "You tell me only of a

Fault they found with the House,
that it was too little; and not a Word
of any thing they lik'd in it: Nor how
the Kitchin Chimneys perform; so I

suppose you spare me some Mortifi-

cation, which is kind." She had
barely finished reassuring him when
he struck a rare note of homesick-

ness: "What Room have you chosen

to sleep in? What Colours are they

painted? I wish you would give me a

particular Account of every Room,
who & what is in it, 'twould make
me seem a little at home."

Poor Deborah. She was no writer.

But she always tried to oblige, and in

her own rocky style she took her hus-

band on a "guided tour" of their

house.

She started off with his own room
on the second floor, which contained
his desk, a musical instrument of his

own invention, the glass armonica,
equipment for his experiments

("glases for musick and for the elick-

tresatecy," as she rendered it), his

writings and pictures—the latter not

yet hung because she dared not drive

nails without his approval. Deborah's

own bedroom, shared with her maid
Susannah, was starkly simple: a bed
without curtains, a chest of drawers,

a table, a mirror, several black-wal-

nut chairs, a few books, and some
family pictures. Sally had a south

room, furnished with a bed, a bu-

reau, a table, a mirror, a trunk, and

some books. On the first floor were a

front room meant for guests, fur-

nished with pieces Franklin had sent

from England a few years earlier,

and a little room on the south re-

served for playing cards. The dining

room could seat at least twelve per-

sons. Deborah mentions the purchase

of a dozen chairs she covered with

horsehair that looked fully as elegant

as heavy silk. A central hallway ran

through the house.

The jewel of the house was the

music room, called the blue room, on

the third floor. Graced with gilt carv-

ings, an ornamental fireplace, and

decorative chairs and screens, it fea-

tured Sally's harpsichord and Frank-

lin's beloved glass armonica. Of all

his inventions, the armonica was the

one that gave him the greatest per-

sonal joy. It was a cross between an

existing German instrument, the

Glasspiel, clumsy to perform on be-

cause it needed constant re-tuning,

and his own mechanical inventive-

ness. As Franklin perfected it, the ar-

monica consisted of 37 special glasses

strung along a spindle which in turn

was placed on a four-legged case and

activated by a foot treadle. When
touched by the moistened tips of the

performer's fingers, these rotating

glasses produced three octaves of



"Its tones are incomparably

sweet," said Franklin of his

armonica, and "once well

tuned [it] never again wants

tuning." This instrument,

which once belonged to

Franklin, is in the collection of

the Franklin Institute.

tones with all the semi-tones and
gave out warbles of ethereal sweet-

ness well-suited to the Scottish songs

Franklin loved so well.* Playing

duets with Sally on the harpsicord

was one of his greatest pleasures.

Eventually, the music room would
boast a welsh harp, a bell harp,

tuned bells, and a viola da gamba, all

much used by this musical family.

Deborah reported dejectedly that

William did not like the "blew room"
at all. With extraordinary self-confi-

dence for a man 3,000 miles away
who had not even seen the room, her

husband told her just what to do: "I

suppose the blue Room is too blue,

the Wood being of the same Colour

with the Paper, and so looks too

dark. I would have you finish it as

soon as you can, thus. Paint the

Wainscot a dead white; paper the

Walls blue; and tack the gilt Border

round just above the Surbase and

under the Cornish. If the Paper is

not equal Coloured when pasted on,

let it be brushed over again with the

same Colour; and let the Papier Ma-
chee figures be tack'd to the middle

of the Cieling; when this is done, I

think it will look very well.
,,

Overlooking all this, pictures of

the King and Queen, of the Earl of

Bute, of Franklin's brother John.

Underfoot, some secondhand Scotch

carpets, one of which did not meet
with the approval of their friends. To
all criticisms and suggestions, Debo-
rah replied that everything would be

put to rights as soon as her husband
came back. The hanging of the cur-

tains would await his return since he

* The armonica enjoyed quite a vogue in the late

18th century; both Mozart and Beethoven com-
posed for it. Eventually it fell into disrepute be-

cause of a suspicion that its performers went

mad from excessive stimulation in the tips of
their fingers.
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knew exactly how he wanted it done.

So would the placing of his clock. In-

deed, Deborah's prime emotion
about the house was not so much
pride of ownership as it was longing

for its faraway master:
fctO my Child,

there is graite odds between a mans
being at home and abroad as every

bodey is a fraid thay shall doe wrong
so everey thing is lefte undun."*
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TVie Stamp Act especially drew
the ire of newspaper editors.

This issue of William Brad-

ford's Pennsylvania Journal,

the last before the act took

effect, is draped in mourning.

If Deborah did not sound more en-

thusiastic about her new residence, it

was probably because the political at-

mosphere around her was more omi-

nous than Franklin suspected. The
Stamp Act threw the colonies into an

uproar in 1765. To the people of

Pennsylvania, the idea of having to

buy pre-stamped paper for all legal

and official transactions, even for a

newspaper or a pack of cards, over-

shadowed the conflict with the

Penns. Franklin, from afar, mis-

judged the mood of his fellow-citi-

zens. Having lobbied in vain against

the proposed act, he felt there was
no point in fighting the unavoidable

any further. In a move he later re-

gretted, he even suggested the names
of some of his friends as potential

agents to sell the abhorred stamps.

This was interpreted by many in Phil-

adelphia as a sign that he favored the

tax and perhaps was even its original

promoter, as some of his enemies
maintained. As riots erupted all over

the colonies (except in New Jersey

where William Franklin held a tight

rein), angry crowds attacked the

houses of those who were suspected

of complicity with the Stamp Act.

Deborah found herself in real dan-

ger. Her friends and relatives urged

*
Franklin and his wife frequently addressed

each other as "dear child.

"



her to move out of Franklin Court.

She who was afraid to venture

onto the sea or to drive a nail in her

husband's absence, lest it be wrong,

now stood firm in the midst of the

commotion. She sent Sally off to the

governor's mansion in New Jersey

and prepared to hold her ground. As
mobs roamed the streets on the night

of September 16, she asked a cousin

to fetch a gun or two since they had

none at home, called on her brother

to be at her side, and with his help

turned one room into a magazine. "I

ordored sum sorte of defens up Stairs

such as I cold manaig my selef." Her
husband, she declared, had not done
anything to hurt anybody, nor had
she given offense to anyone, "but if

aney one came to disturbe me I wold
show a proper resentement and I

shold be very much afrunted." Intim-

idated by such firmness and by the

800 citizens who took to the streets

to see that the peace was kept, the

would-be rioters had second thoughts

about "afrunting" her and the night

ended quietly.

When he read this wholly unpre-

tentious account of his wife's finest

hour, Franklin was moved to pay her

tribute: "I honour much the Spirit

and Courage you show'd and the

prudent Preparations you made in

that Time of Danger. The Woman
deserves a good House that is deter-

mined to defend it."

While over the next several months
he engaged in an intensive propa-

ganda campaign to obtain the repeal

of the Stamp Act, she returned to

her domestic routine. She happily in-

formed him that the new oven
worked so well that she had baked
the best buckwheat cakes of her en-

tire life, causing their friends to ex-

claim that she had "ought dun my

one ought doings" (outdone my own
outdoings). Deborah willingly enter-

tained a stream of visitors—the tea-

pot seems never to have run dry

—

but she herself hardly ever went out.

Her husband had asked her, for po-

litical reasons, to remain as unobtru-

sive as possible, and she was doing

just that. "I keep my selef to my se-

lef," she assured him. She would not

even wear her good clothes in his ab-

sence.

Franklin, in contrast, was soon

very much in the limelight. His great

day came on February 13, 1766. Of
the 40-odd merchants, colonial

agents, and visiting Americans who
appeared before the House of Com-
mons to testify for repeal, he was the

star performer. He reminded his au-

dience of the docility of the colonies

in earlier times ("They were led by a

thread . . .") and, for the benefit of

the already worried British mer-

chants, he pointed out that there was
not "a single article imported into

the Northern Colonies but what they

can either do without or make them-

selves." At that point his thoughts

turned to Deborah. As he later told

her, he felt strong and secure in the

knowledge that, should trade be-

tween England and her colonies

cease altogether, he would once

again be clothed from head to foot

"in Woollen and Linnen of my
Wife's manufacture."

When repeal was carried nine days

later, church bells rang in London,
West India ships on the Thames
broke out their colors, bonfires were
lit in Philadelphia, and Deborah re-

joiced in the thought that she would
see her husband any day. But he

postponed his return because he felt

he had not accomplished the original

purpose of his mission, the ousting of
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Franklin's cartoon, drawn on

the back of a calling card, la-

ments the harm done to the

British Empire by the Stamp

Act.

the Penns. His wife, who celebrated

his 60th birthday in absentia by serv-

ing punch to his friends, had to settle

for more months of waiting. She su-

pervised the building of a brick wall

all around the property and planted

the various seeds he sent her: some
"curious" beans, broccoli, cauli-

flower. She in turn shipped him cran-

berries from his native New England,

Newton Pippin apples, ham and ba-

con, and a live squirrel to present as

a pet to an English friend.

Now that the embargo on British

goods was lifted, Franklin started

once again to send gifts home: da-

mask tablecloths, curtains and a

"Turkey carpet" for the house, pom-
padour satin and a new gown for his

wife, fancy negligees and petticoats

for his daughter, and two dozen pairs

of gloves, none ever quite large

enough in the forearm, moaned the

plump Sally.

"A Proper Match" for Sally? After Sally turned 23, her father be-

gan to worry about her social life.

Was she enlarging the circle of her

friends? Did she go out? Indeed she

did, came her mother's reply. She

went to teas, card games, and

dances, where she mingled with the

best families in town. She often

crossed the Delaware—on a sled

when it was frozen—to attend the

grand receptions given by her half-

brother William, the Governor of

New Jersey.

Yet the man Sally fell in love with

was a not-very-prosperous merchant

by the name of Richard Bache who
had recently emigrated from Eng-

land. She met him under sad circum-

stances, at the death-bed of her best

friend, whose fiance he was.

When Franklin was informed in



the spring of 1767 that his daughter

wished to marry (he had been away
over two years by then), he deferred

to Deborah's judgment in the matter.

If she "thought the Match a proper

one," he would rather not keep the

young couple waiting, since he did

not think he would be home by sum-

mer. His only recommendation was

to fit out their daughter "handsomely

in Cloaths and Furniture, not exceed-

ing in the whole Five Hundred
Pounds Value" and to keep the wed-

ding expenses as low as possible. A
few weeks later, however, he re-

ceived an alarming message from

William to the effect that Richard

Bache had been involved in some un-

fortunate business transactions, had

lost all his money, and was deep in

debt. Furthermore, William, who had

made inquiries about his prospective

brother-in-law, had been told that

Richard was "a mere fortune

hunter." Worried that Sally might

consider him disloyal, William ended
his letter with the admonition (ob-

viously disregarded) "Do burn this."

Franklin promptly tried to cancel

the marriage plans and suggested to

his wife that she send their daughter

to join him in England, where she

could have "some amusement," the

standard remedy for lovesick maid-

ens. His kindly worded but firm let-

ter reached Philadelphia in Septem-
ber 1767. In late October, Sally and
Richard were married.

A baffling absence of documents
clouds the whole episode: not a line

of explanation from Deborah, noth-

ing from Sally herself, nothing from
William. We do not even know
whether he attended the ceremony.
The only surviving piece of evidence

is an announcement in the Pennsylva-

nia Chronicle for November 2: "Last

Thursday Evening [October 29] Mr.
Richard Bache, of this City, Mer-
chant, was married to Miss Sally

Franklin, the only Daughter of the

celebrated Doctor Franklin, a young
lady of distinguished Merit. The next

Day all the Shipping in the Harbour
displayed their Colours on the happy
Occasion."

Franklin's initial reaction to this

startling piece of news has not come
down to us. But he was obviously

displeased. When his sister Jane sent

him her cautious congratulations in

December, he answered icily that

Sally had "pleased herself and her

Mother . . . but I think they should

have seen some better Prospect." His

correspondence carefully avoided any

mention of his son-in-law, whose sev-

eral overtures went unanswered.

After a brief honeymoon in New
York, the bridegroom went off to Ja-

maica in the hope of mending his af-

fairs, while Sally, sad and lonely,

stayed with her mother at Franklin

Court, the only home she called her

own for most of her life. Deborah
was anxious, ready to quarrel with

anyone who disapproved of her

daughter's choice. She had liked

Bache from the beginning and, any-

way, Sally could do no wrong in her

eyes. When William forwarded to

England disturbing news about argu-

ments within the family, Franklin felt

the time had come to restore har-

mony. About a year after the mar-

riage, he sent Bache a cool but con-

ciliatory message explaining why he

had not written sooner: "I did not

choose to write what I thought, being

unwilling to give Pain where I could

not give Pleasure." He went on to

say that "If you prove a good Hus-

band and Son, you will find in me an

Affectionate Father."
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Deborah was immensely relieved:

"I hope my heart will be more at rest

than it has been for some time past."

She was "all a-flutter," convinced

that the summer of 1768 would bring

her husband home. But Franklin de-

cided to stay on in England, no
longer because of the Penns, in

whose fate everybody had lost inter-

est, but because new rifts were ap-

pearing between Great Britain and

her colonies in the wake of the highly

unpopular Townshend Acts. The im-

position of duties on tea, glass, pa-

per, and other products reawakened
the ill-feeling of the Stamp Act days.

Now an agent for Georgia as well as

Pennsylvania, Franklin was trying to

present the colonial point of view to

the British government.

A pattern was emerging in his life:

more commitments, more agencies

(New Jersey in 1769, Massachusetts

in 1770), every spring the hope that

he would sail home in the fall, every

fall the decision to delay until the fol-

lowing spring. After the summer of

1768, his wife began to realize that

the separation would go on and on.

Deborah had been fighting off

depression for a long time, faithful to

her promise not to complain. She
had nursed Franklin's sister-in-law

through her final illness, given moral
support to a number of young rela-

tives, been a watchdog to the house.

Rarely did she leave it, even for a

day, to the care of the servants. In

the winter of 1768-69, during Sally's

first pregnancy, Deborah suffered a

stroke. When Franklin received an
alarming diagnosis from his friend

the celebrated Dr. Thomas Bond, he
immediately consulted the English

medical luminary Sir John Pringle

and forwarded his advice. While
thanking him for his concern, Debo-

Sally and Richard Bache, by

John Hoppner, 1792.



rah pointed out to her husband that

her "disorder" was due to disap-

pointment "att your staying so much
longer that I loste all my reseylu-

shon." Although able to attend her

first grandson's christening, she never

recovered full health, and her last

five years were spent in a state of

what she called "dissatisfied

distress." Many of her friends had

died, her memory often failed, and

she despaired of ever seeing her hus-

band again. Their letters, while re-

maining affectionate, became bland

and repetitive; their lives had di-

verged too much for real communica-
tion.

The only common ground in those

years was their grandson, Benjamin
Franklin Bache, whom Deborah
called "Kingbird." Franklin did not

meet his little namesake until the

child was almost six, but Deborah
kept him informed of all his doings.

His advent, of course, hastened the

thaw with the Baches. An advocate

of breast-feeding, Franklin was glad

that Sally nursed the baby herself,

unlike most of the upper-class

women he met in England.

Deborah never missed a chance to

tell him what a wonderful father

Richard Bache was. As a business-

man, alas, he was still floundering. In

the fall of 1771, he traveled to Eng-
land to visit his family, meet his

father-in-law, and try for a govern-

ment post through Franklin's influ-

ence. Much to his relief, Richard was
greeted cordially and given £200 to

buy merchandise. He was also told

firmly to remain in business—selling

for cash only—and to be his own
man. His request for help had come
at a time when Franklin, increasingly

disillusioned with government serv-

ice, would not hear of another rela-

tive tying himself to the Crown. As
for Sally, she was advised to help her

husband, if she was not "too proud,"

just as her mother had helped her

father.

She was not too proud. By the

time Richard came home, she had al-

ready fitted out a store on the

ground floor of one of the tenants'

houses the family owned on Market
Street, "an excellent Stand for dry

goods." In May 1772, the Baches
were advertising for cash only a vari-

ety of textiles called by such exotic

names as humhums, silk pullicats,

and Ozenbrigs. But the business did

not thrive. In less than a year Bache
was calling it "a sorry concern" and
was eager to try another line, wine

and grocery, "which few have failed

in. . . .

Sally met with no better luck in

domestic matters. She tried to take

over many of the household duties as

her mother grew weaker. Franklin

applauded this initiative: "Remem-
ber, for your Encouragement in good
oeconomy, that whatever a Child

saves of its Parents' Money, will be

its own another Day. Study Poor
Richard a little and you may find

some Benefit from his Instructions."

Still, he knew his wife well enough to

guess that she would not easily give

up the reins. Sure enough, six

months after her brave beginnings,

Sally admitted defeat: "I am no
longer house keeper; it gave my dear

Mama so much uneasiness." Having
once been scolded herself for the way
she handled money, Deborah was
now so afraid of displeasing her hus-

band again that she allowed her

daughter only driblets of money, not

enough to buy economically.
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The Patriarch of Craven Street

Franklin spent many happy
years in this house on Craven
Street in London.

Compared to the problems besetting

the inhabitants of Franklin Court,

Franklin's life in England seemed
glamorous indeed: extensive travel in

the summer, enough invitations to

dine out every evening if he pleased,

the homelike atmosphere of Mar-
garet Stevenson's house on Craven
Street, and the substitute family the

widow and her daughter Polly pro-

vided. Polly's first child was
Franklin's godson, and he boasted

about this little Billy almost as much
as Deborah did about her Benny.
The hospitality of his lodging was ex-

tended to a host of English and
American relatives, for whom he

filled the role of patriarch. Most
cherished among these, a good-look-

ing adolescent by the name of Wil-

liam Temple, described vaguely as a

young American in need of paternal

supervision. As they later revealed

with a chuckle, Mrs. Stevenson and
Polly had long guessed that this boy
who studied in boarding school but

spent all his vacations with them was
in fact a Franklin, the illegitimate son

born to William in 1760 when he was
living in London with his father. As
in William's own case, the mother's

identity has remained unknown.
Deborah, it seems, never knew of

Temple's existence.

Still, there was a somber undercur-

rent to Franklin's outwardly pleasura-

ble life: the growing awareness that

American claims and British preten-

sions could never be reconciled, the

fruitless lobbying, the rebuffs at the

hands of incompetent public servants,

the tension inherent in his double po-

sition as officer of the Crown (his

postmastership) and as advocate of

colonial interests. Above all, there

was the recognition, faint at first but

inescapable, that his son William was



drifting away from him.

William had been governing New
Jersey quite skillfully for a number of

years and relying heavily on his

father's advice, even to the point of

submitting for Franklin's approval

drafts of letters to his superiors. But

when the gap widened between the

mother country and the colonies, the

governor threw his weight on the side

of the Crown, eventually causing his

father to remark, "You are a thor-

ough Courtier.

"

The year 1774—the most tragic in

Franklin's life—saw the culmination

of difficulties, public and private. It

opened with his ordeal in the Cock-

pit, an adjunct of Whitehall Palace,

where he was upbraided in public

and humiliated in front of the Privy

Council and a large assembly of lords

and ladies of the realm. This painful

scene was the outcome of a scandal

Franklin had provoked by leaking

back to Boston some letters incau-

tiously written a few years earlier by

Massachusetts Governor Thomas
Hutchinson and some of his political

associates to a minor British official.

Hutchinson complained in these let-

ters about the unruliness of the peo-

ple of Massachusetts and went so far

as to suggest "an abridgment of Eng-
lish liberties" in order to secure law

and order. Their publication pro-

voked an uproar in Massachusetts

and a backlash in government circles

in England. The day after the Cock-
pit encounter, Franklin was stripped

of his position as Postmaster-Gen-
eral, another humiliation and a seri-

ous loss of income. In spite of his

family's pleas to come home, he

stayed on in England for another 14

months, embroiled in high-level but

futile negotiations to salvage "that

fine and noble China vase, the Brit-

William Franklin and his son

William Temple Franklin.
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Franklin 's chess set.

ish Empire. " In the course of that

year, Deborah suffered another

stroke and died at the age of 68.

His hopes shattered in early 1775,

threatened with lawsuits and jail be-

cause of the Hutchinson affair,

Franklin took his grandson Temple
out of school and quietly slipped

away with him on a packetboat to

America. (William and his wife, who
were childless, had now decided to

give the boy their name and send

him to college in America.) Franklin

and his grandson were still on the

high seas in April, busily studying the

Gulf Stream, when Massachusetts mi-

litiamen and British regulars fired the

first rounds at Lexington and Con-
cord.

Home to a Revolution

Joseph Galloway

In England Franklin was in disgrace;

at home he was a hero. On his return

in May 1775, Philadelphians poured

out to greet him. He had hardly re-

gained his land legs before he was
named a delegate to the Second Con-

tinental Congress, scheduled to sit in

a few days. How little time there

was, in the rush of events, to renew

his acquaintance with his daughter,

with whom he had spent less than

two years out of the last 18, to meet

her two boys, Benny, six, and the

toddler Willy, to discover his house

and find out if the blue room looked

all right, after all! The house did

show signs of wear; the dining room
needed repapering. Who cared? A
revolution was convulsing the country

and the lives of the Franklins.

In Congress—where he was the

oldest member, old enough to be the

father of half the other delegates

—

Franklin's position was more radical

than that of any of his colleagues ex-

cept those from Massachusetts and
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Virginia. He was greatly disappointed

by the defection of his long-time po-

litical lieutenant Joseph Galloway

and by the bold pro-British stand

taken by his own son. Nothing could

sway the two younger men, who had

once been his political disciples. Not
the battle of Bunker Hill, not the

burning of Charlestown or the British

blockade along the coast, not even a

night-long debate over many bottles

of wine, during which Franklin des-

perately used every argument he

could muster to persuade them.

Franklin's contributions to the rev-

olution were many and varied. He
drew up plans for a new postal serv-

ice, roughly the one still in existence

today; he was appointed postmaster-

general by the Continental Congress

and turned over his salary to the re-

lief of wounded soldiers; he busied

himself with procuring lead and gun-

powder for the army; he was elected

president of the Pennsylvania Con-
vention and was a source of many of

the radical measures of that tho-

roughgoing democratic body; and he

served on many local and congres-

sional committees, the chief organiz-

ing instrument of this revolution. En-
trusted with an issue of paper money,
he drew on his knowledge of botany

to suggest for each denomination an

intricate leaf design that would be

hard to counterfeit. Richard Bache,

who had replaced William in the role

of trusted associate, became comp-
troller of the postal service and one
of three men chosen to supervise

printing of the currency.

In October, 1775, Franklin was
sent to Cambridge, Massachusetts, to

confer with George Washington on
the organization of the American
army. On his way back, he stopped

in Rhode Island to pick up his sister

Jane Mecom—the only survivor of

his many brothers and sisters—who
had fled her home when the British

occupied Boston. Aunt Jane settled

in Franklin Court, a mixed blessing,

for she was an intelligent woman, vi-

vacious and witty at times, but domi-
neering and quick to take offense.

The house now hummed with peo-

ple. A baby girl was born to the

Baches at Christmas, but died a few

months later. The boys played at

war. Temple, warmly received by the

whole family, divided his time among
the New Jersey Franklins, who were
wooing him hard, his studies at the

College of Philadelphia, and the

Bache household, which he much en-

livened by his comic talents. He fell

in love with various Philadelphia

young ladies, among them the beauti-

ful Peggy Shippen, later the wife of

Benedict Arnold. The family chuc-

kled over dead letters in the post of-

fice and joined in songs—Aunt Jane

reminisced about it all when she was
very old. Franklin asked an English

friend to send him half a dozen mod-
ern "catches"—jocose, sometimes
bawdy rounds sung by unaccompan-
ied voices—for his musical club.

Whether or not his club met at

Franklin Court, the drawing room
was spruced up and new sconces or-

dered. He also put up two lightning

rods and started building a two-story

brick coachhouse and stable behind

the tenant house at 316 Market
Street.

We might say that it was in his

bedroom-study—to which book-

shelves had just been added—that

the State Department was born. Ap-
pointed to the Committee of Secret

Correspondence, Franklin used his

many connections abroad to weave a

network of goodwill toward his coun-
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try. Foreign aid did not come sponta-

neously to the rebellious colonies,

and Franklin's great pride made him
unwilling to solicit. Yet the war was
going badly, and there was no
choice. He met with French agents,

he corresponded with friends and of-

ficials in England and on the conti-

nent.

Perhaps the greatest sacrifice

Franklin ever made for his country

came a year after his return. He tore

himself away from his comfortable

house to face the rigors of a journey

in late winter to Canada. He and his

three companions were to sway
French Canadians to the American
side. The trip through ice and snow
turned out to be harrowing and fruit-

less; he returned exhausted and tor-

mented with boils.

Direct communication with Wil-

liam had ended some months previ-

ously; now they were maintained

only through Temple's shuttling back
and forth, often forgetting half his

wardrobe wherever he visited last:

'You are very unlucky in Clothes,"

mused his grandfather. William him-
self had been under house arrest

since the beginning of 1776, or rather

he was confined to Perth Amboy
where he lived in a state of rage and
frustration. In June, after he had
made it clear that he was still taking

his orders from London, the New
Jersey provincial congress declared
him in contempt, adding that the

governor was "an enemy of the liber-

ties of this country." The order went
out to arrest him and halt his salary.

Led to Burlington on June 21 for a

hearing, he behaved arrogantly, caus-

ing President John Witherspoon of
the College of New Jersey to ex-

claim: 'The Governor has made a

speech every way worthy [of] his ex-

alted birth."

That very day, Franklin—back

only three weeks from Canada

—

wrote to Washington that he was "re-

covering from a severe fit of the

Gout which has kept me from Con-
gress and Company ... so that I

know little of what has pass'd here."

Not a word about his son. Three
days later, William was sent under

guard to Connecticut, where Gover-
nor John Trumbull (the only patriot

among the colonial governors) was
instructed to take the prisoner's word
that he would not try to escape.

Temple flew to the side of his step-

mother, whose health, shaky at best,

had been seriously impaired by the

recent shocks.* His presence in Tory
circles not far from the British front

lines and his obvious attachment to

his father were a constant source of

anguish to Franklin.

It is against this backdrop of ill

health and heartbreak that the aging

Benjamin Franklin spent the historic

days leading up to the Declaration of

Independence. His role in the writing

of that document is uncertain. He
was appointed to the committee to

prepare the declaration, but the work
is entirely Jefferson's. Possibly Jeffer-

son brought his draft to Franklin for

consultation. Franklin had a few mi-

nor suggestions, and he may have

been the one who changed the words
"sacred and undeniable" ("We hold

these truths to be sacred and undeni-

able . . .") to "self-evident." It

would have been characteristic. He
was fond of his young colleague,

born the same year as his Sally.

When Jefferson went through the

* She was a pathetic figure who died the fol-

lowing year in New York, where she had fled

for safety with the retreating British army. Wil-

liam was never allowed to visit her.
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1

In this painting of Congress
voting independence, Franklin

sits in the center foreground.

The canvas is by Edward
Savage, whose work is based in

part on an earlier painting by
Edward Pine.
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misery of seeing his beautiful text ed-

ited by Congress, Franklin tried to

comfort him in his usual way—by
telling an amusing story.*

Franklin Court

during the Revolution

Franklin 's fireplace, which he

invented about 1740, virtually

revolutionized home heating.

His cast-iron insert was far

more efficient than the preva-

lent English-style open-hearth

fireplace, and it warmed the

room more evenly.

When Franklin kissed Sally goodbye
in late October 1776 and departed

for France as one of three commis-
sioners he had good reason to fear he

might never see his daughter again.

If the British captured his vessel on
the way to France, he could be

hanged for treason. If the British

won the war, he would never be able

to set foot in America again. If the

war lasted long ... he was past 70,

prey to many infirmities. Still, he

sailed off, taking along seven-year-

old Benny Bache for a European
education and Temple, wrenched
away from his now-imprisoned father

and embattled stepmother.

This odd trio fared remarkably
well during their nine years abroad.

Benny learned to speak fluent French
during his years of schooling in Ge-
neva and grew into a sturdy adoles-

cent, well-versed in the printer's

craft. Temple became a sophisticated

young man of 25 with first-hand ex-

perience in diplomacy.

Franklin himself experienced both

pain and triumph in that long inter-

val. The pain of the final break with

his son, who, as soon as he was re-

leased and exchanged, threw in com-
pletely with the Tories and became
one of the leaders of counter-revolu-

* Franklin's story was about an apprentice who
decided to open his own shop. He planned a

sign inscribed "John Thompson, hatter, makes

and sells hats for ready money. " Various

friends read the proposed text, and the young
man was chagrined to hear each one delete a

word or two as unnecessary until the sign read

simply "John Thompson," with a picture of a

hat below.
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This etching, based on a

drawing by the great artist

Jean Honore Fragonard, epit-

omizes the French view of
Franklin in 1778. The allegory

illustrates Turgot's famous epi-

gram: "He snatched lightning

from the heavens and the

scepter from the hands of ty-

rants."

tionary activities in America. The
triumphs of the treaties of alliance

and commerce with France in 1778,

the decision of the French to enter

the war, the peace treaty with Eng-

land in 1783, the commercial treaties

with European countries—all diplo-

matic milestones for his Nation. And
for himself, the adoration of the

French, who saw in the old Doctor
the embodiment of all their ideals:

backwoods philosopher, urbane wit,

apostle of freedom, everybody's be-

loved papa.

Glorious days for him, somber
days for Franklin Court. First it suf-

fered a material—but patriotic—set-

back when its lead gutters, along

with those of every house in town,

were taken down and turned into

bullets. Then came the humiliation of

British occupation. Right after the

battle of the Brandywine, September

11, 1777, Sally—who had given birth

to Betsy only five days before—had
to flee from Philadelphia with her

family, barely escaping in time. The
Baches wandered from place to place

and finally settled in Manheim, near

Lancaster, where they spent a year in

straitened circumstances. Franklin

Court in the meantime was taken

over by British General Sir Charles

Grey and his aide, that dashing Cap-
tain John Andre, who later as Major
Andre would be hanged for his part

in Benedict Arnold's attempted be-

trayal of West Point.

When Richard Bache returned to

the city on the heels of the retreating

Redcoats in July 1778, he found that

Andre had carried away many of

Franklin's books, his account ledgers,

his electrical apparatus, and all his

musical instruments except the ar-

monica. Gone, too, was his portrait

by Benjamin Wilson, which had hung
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Ambassador to France

Franklin 's courtship of the

French people and their gov-

ernment was wildly successful.

He was adored by all levels of
society— "They love me and I

love them, "he wrote late in

his ministry—and this senti-

ment he turned to his country 's

advantage.

The paintings here show
Franklin in two moments of
triumph: his reception at the

royal court after France allied

itself with America (above),

and seated with his fellow

commissioners who negotiated

the peace treaty with Britain

in 1783. Benjamin West's paint-

ing was never finished because

the British delegates refused

to sit for him.

At right is a sketch of Frank-

lin 's house in Passy, a suburb

of Paris. He chose this house

because he loved the country

and fresh air.
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in the dining room alongside Debo-
rah's.*

The house itself came through the

occupation in fairly good shape.

Richard Bache told Sally, still in the

country, that he paid $6 to have the

floors scrubbed, and to Franklin he

wrote: "I found your house and fur-

niture upon my return to town in

much better order than I had any

reason to expect from the hands of

such a rapacious crew. ..." Bache
did not mention some of the losses

Franklin later discovered: two trunks

of books "impossible to be replac'd"

and a printing press and matrices,

among other valuables. Franklin took

the news of the British presence with

characteristic detachment: "I know
not whether, " he remarked in a let-

ter, "even if Philadelphia is re-

covered you have a House to enter-

tain in."

There was a house and it soon
made up in human richness what it

had lost on the material side. In spite

of inflation, the Baches managed to

entertain a stream of visitors from
France. Lafayette called whenever he

was in the vicinity and carried news
back and forth between Richard and
Sally and their faraway Benny. Mon-
sieur Conrad-Alexandre Gerard,

France's first envoy to the United
States, became such a good friend

that Sally almost decided to study

French again, the better to converse

with him. The only unwelcome visi-

tor was a cow that somehow wan-
dered into the courtyard and gored

Richard.

Richard and Sally often regretted

that their financial situation made it

* This painting was returned in 1906 by Earl

Grey, Governor of Canada and a descendent of
General Grey; it now hangs in the White

House.

impossible to be more hospitable.

Richard was postmaster-general, but

Congress tended to be lax in paying

his salary, which was so small anyway
that it would hardly pay, he said, for

the salt on his porridge.

The Baches had a growing family

to support. After Benny, Willy, and
Betsy, Sally gave birth to Louis

—

named for the King of France—and
then to Debbie and Richard. A dot-

ing mother, she kept grandfather

supplied with charming vignettes of

the children's doings and sayings.

The last of her children, Sarah, was
born after Franklin's return.

Sally was a joyous, active woman,
full of warmth. She celebrated her

father's birthday every year by giving

the children a party; as many as 60

youngsters once danced and prattled

on that occasion. She knew that

Franklin and William were no longer

on speaking terms, but did not take

advantage of the situation to ingra-

tiate herself with her father. On the

contrary, she refused to break with

her brother, and took some risks in

keeping him and Temple informed of

each other's welfare.

An ardent patriot herself, she

raised money for the troops and or-

ganized a band of determined Phila-

delphia women who made more than

2,000 shirts for Washington's men.
Knitting and spinning were carried

on industriously under her roof, but

it was almost impossible to find any-

body to weave. Her frantic pursuit of

cloth fills many pages of Sally's let-

ters to her father. Quite reluctant to

send her anything frivolous in war-

time—Franklin once upbraided her

for asking for lace and feathers to

wear to a ball—he shipped his daugh-

ter some sensible items from France

and tried to foster European connec-

43



tions for the newly created importing

firm of Bache and Shee.

No gift ever thrilled Sally as much
as a bust of her father: "I am in

hourly expectation of seeing it and
long as anxiously for its coming as if

I could converse with it. . .
": He too

longed to chat with her, but not until

two years after the peace treaty was
signed with Great Britian did Con-
gress finally allow him to come
home.

The Last Homecoming
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15. FRANKLIN, fteftdent.

Philadelphii i, ytli of Ntvemlur, 1789.

This abolitionist broadside
issued by Franklin in 1789
appeals for money to help

emancipated blacks become
self-supporting.

On September 14, 1785, Sally stood

on the doorstep of Franklin's house,

surrounded by her children. In

Benny's words—the words that close

his diary
—"The joy that I received

... in seeing father, mother, broth-

ers and sisters can be felt, not de-

scribed." Tears ran down the cheeks

of the worldly Temple. Philadelphia

roared its enthusiasm for the reun-

ion.

Renewed contact with his home
gave Franklin a fresh burst of energy.

This ailing man, almost 80, who had
been speaking of "going to bed" in

the evening of life, within six weeks
let himself be chosen Chief Executive

of Pennsylvania, a post to which he

was re-elected for three consecutive

one-year terms. He continued as

head of the American Philosophical

Society. When the Society for Politi-

cal Enquiries was founded in 1787 to

apply to government the rigorous

study accorded the natural sciences,

he was named president. That same
year, the Constitutional Convention

met in Philadelphia to frame a new
national charter. Franklin was a

member—the oldest—and he rarely

missed a session, often managing to

defuse his colleagues' tempers during

debate with some telling anecdote.
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Ail those public commitments did

not prevent him from giving attention

to the house. So grand when he had

planned it with Deborah, it was now
overflowing with family. He designed

an addition for the east side that ran

the length of the house and increased

its size by half. The new dining room
on the first floor, regularly used for

meetings of the American Philosophi-

cal Society, could easily seat 24 per-

sons. Large windows, north and

south, cooled it in the summer, a

chimney "made handsome with mar-

ble slabs" kept it warm in winter.

One floor above, an equally spa-

cious and airy library provided the

new focal point of his life. "I hardly

know how to justify building a Li-

brary at an Age that will so soon

oblige me to quit it," he confessed to

his sister, "but we are apt to forget

that we are grown old, and building

is an Amusement." This was proba-

bly the largest private library in

America, lined from floor to ceiling

with more than 4,000 volumes. Here
he could work in peace, away from
the children's turmoil. He had a

chance to use the arm-extender he

had devised to reach books on the

upper shelves and to enjoy the ingen-

ious rocker-armchair he invented,

which was cooled by an overhead fan

operated by a foot pedal. Here he

could employ another clever inven-

tion of his, the rolling press that

made copies in less than two min-

utes. Or he could demonstrate the

circulation of the blood in one of his

glass machines. If he felt more like

dreaming and reminiscing, he could

contemplate on his mantlepiece "a

prodigious number of medals, busts,

and casts in wax or plaster of Paris,

the effigies of the most noted charac-

ters in Europe."

Over the library there were two

"good Bedchambers" and over them
"a fine Garret." All doors were lined

or edged with green baize to muffle

noise and several had springs to close

them automatically; a clever system

of traps and flues kept the fireplaces

operating at peak efficiency.

In a move toward beauty, Franklin

did away with his vegetable garden

—

there was an open market just out-

side his court—and surrounded his

mansion with grass plots, gravel

walks, trees, and flowering shrubs. In

good weather, he entertained friends

under a large mulberry tree. "I felt

as if I was going to be introduced to

the presence of an European Mon-
arch," wrote one visitor.

"But how my ideas changed, when
I saw a short, fat, trunched old man,
in a plain Quaker dress, bald pate,

and short white locks, sitting without

his hat under the tree ... his voice

was low, but his countenance open,

frank, and pleasing . . . The tea-table

was spread under the tree, and Mrs.

Bache, a very gross and rather

homely lady, who is the only daugh-

ter of the Doctor and lives with him,

served it out to the company. She

had three of her children about her,

over whom she seemed to have no
kind of command, but who appeared

to be excessively fond of their

Grandpapa . . . Every thing about

him seems to diffuse an unrestrained

freedom and happiness."

Those were the golden days of

Franklin Court. "I enjoy here every-

thing that a reasonable Mind can de-

sire." An unending parade of callers

made the pilgrimage. They ranged

from politician to scientist, from
George Washington to David Ritten-

house and Tom Paine, who set up a

model of his iron bridge on the
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Josiah Wedgwood, an ardent

English abolitionist, presented

this anti-slavery medallion to

Franklin in 1787.

premises. Jefferson, off in Paris,

longed to be part of the philosophical

gatherings: 'They would be more
valued by me than the whole week in

Paris.
,,

He did pay a visit as soon as

his ambassadorship was over and

brought news of their Parisian circle.

One aspect of life at Franklin

Court still bothered its owner: the

presence of Richard Bache's slave

Bob. In his will, Franklin cancelled

Bache's debt toward his estate on
condition that he emancipate Bob.

Franklin's views on slavery, narrowly

pragmatic at first, had become in-

creasingly humanitarian over the

years. In 1787, he accepted the presi-

dency of the Pennsylvania Society for

the Abolition of Slavery and the Re-

lief of Free Negroes. In addition to

lending this cause the prestige of his

name, he summoned his final ener-

gies for an ultimate salvo in favor of

freedom for all. As he had so often

done through life, he made his point

by way of a literary hoax: the pur-

ported speech of the Divan of Al-

giers defending the time-hallowed

custom of enslaving Christians cap-

tured by Barbary pirates.

"The Advantage is for Posterity" Franklin built more than an addition

to his house in 1786. He also tore

down the three tenant houses he

owned on the Market Street edge of

his land and replaced them with two

new ones, at 316 and 318. Those old

houses were fraught with memories.

In the small brick one, which had be-

longed to Deborah's parents, he had

spent the first few months of his Phil-

adelphia life as a lodger and won
Deborah's heart. In the small frame

one next door, he had held his first

job with the printer Keimer, that

"odd fish" he had so much enjoyed

46



teasing. But even in old age, Frank-

lin looked to the future rather than

to the past. The future meant provid-

ing for his grandchildren, since the

honest and diligent Richard Bache
was never successful in business. The
public markets were expanding in his

direction, and modern shops built

along Market Street would fetch

handsome rentals.

These new houses, which com-
bined shop and residence, were as

fireproof as Franklin's ingenuity

could make them. He would have

liked to build the French way: tiles

or marble for the floors, stone for

the staircase, slate for the roof. But

this was far too expensive in Phila-

delphia, and he settled for another

system. None of the woodwork in

one room connected with that of any

other, except at doorways. Coats of

plaster lined walls and ceilings, floors

and stairs. Inside partitions were
brick from cellar to roof, dividing the

building into stacks of rooms. A trap

door gave easy access to the roof so

that its shingles could be wet down in

case of fire in the neighborhood.

Franklin closely supervised every

stage of this novel type of construc-

tion; the insurance company was suf-

ficiently impressed to reduce his pre-

miums.
Between these two new houses he

built a high arched passageway, wide

enough for a carriage, to give access

to his own house farther back. This

passageway freed the lot at number
322, the former entrance to Franklin

Court, for building. On it Franklin

now put up another house. Like the

other two, it was three stories high,

with a kitchen in the cellar and a sky-

light over the stairwell. This house
became famous, after Franklin's

death, as the seat of Benny Bache's

controversial newspaper, the Aurora.
Benny was not forgotten in the

building spree. Behind the new struc-

tures Franklin erected still another

one to house the vast quantities of

printing equipment brought back
from France for his grandson. A
foundry and bindery were installed

on the first floor and a printing press

on the second.

Franklin was eager that Benny
should have a trade, in view of the

ways into which his beloved Temple
had fallen. He had helped Temple
buy a farm in New Jersey, not far

from Philadelphia, a property that

belonged to William before his self-

exile to England. Franklin hoped that

Temple would make an "honorable

living" on the farm while waiting for

the diplomatic post to which they felt

his services in Paris entitled him. But
the diplomatic assignment never ma-
terialized, and Temple, soon bored

with farming, frittered away his time

in the social whirl in Philadelphia, re-

fusing to marry, settle down, work,

or fulfill any of his grandfather's aspi-

rations.

Hence Benny was kept on a tight

leash. As soon as he had completed

his studies at the University of Penn-

sylvania, he was put to work as

Franklin's secretary, taking down dic-

tation of the last part of the Auto-

biography and making fair copies of

the rest. Benny had learned typecast-

ing in France as an apprentice to the

celebrated printer Francois-Ambroise

Didot. Now he took his first steps in

business under his grandfather's tute-

lage: he tried to sell type but found

the market glutted, he printed chil-

dren's primers and Latin and Greek
grammars. Benny sometimes chafed

under Franklin's well-meaning domi-

nation, confiding to his diary how
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melancholy he felt. But his admira-

tion remained as unalloyed as the

day he had exclaimed, as a child,

that his grandfather could do any-

thing, even write beautifully with a

scratchy pen!

Now a young man of 20, Benny
was there, loyal as ever, when the

last hour came. Reduced to "a skele-

ton covered with skin" by the lau-

danum he took to dull the pain from

his kidney stones, Franklin died on
April 17, 1790, after two years of ag-

ony borne stoically, almost cheer-

fully. "His Resolution unshaken,"

wrote the grief-stricken Benny, "his

principles fixed even in Death."

The Legacy

To be LET,

The Mansion House,
Formerly occupied by B. Franklin, now
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This ad offering Franklin 's

house for rent ran in a local

paper in 1792.

William was disinherited in his

father's will. Most of the Doctor's es-

tate went to the Baches, who soon

rented out Franklin Court and left on
an extended trip to England. Upon
their return, they purchased an estate

on the banks of the Delaware and

named it "Settle" after Richard's

birthplace in Yorkshire.

Temple received surprisingly

little—and even that with many
strings attached: the farm in New
Jersey, provided he married, some-

thing he did not do until he was on

his deathbed in 1823; 3,000 acres in

Georgia, which turned out to be illu-

sory since the grant to Franklin was
never validated; most of his grand-

father's library and all of his manu-
scripts with the option of publishing

them or not, as he thought fit, a task

he finally accomplished after 27

years.

To Benny went some books, some
cash, and the printing tools but not

the shop itself. Within a year, Benny-
the-pliant, Benny-the-obedient be-

came Benny-the-bold. He married
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Margaret Hartman Markoe, daughter

of a planter on the island of St.

Croix, and settled in the house at 322

Market Street. Against all advice, he

launched his own newspaper, first

called the General Advertiser, later

the Aurora. Like his grandfather, he

saw the press as "the Bulwark of

Liberty
,,

and the means of enlighten-

ing the people. After a staid begin-

ning, Benny's paper was caught up in

the frenzied politics of the 1790s.

Philadelphia was an anti-Federalist

stronghold and generally favored the

"Democratic-Republican" views of

Thomas Jefferson, which were fairly

close to Franklin's. Benny forcefully

articulated the ideas of this faction,

although he received no more than

verbal support from Jefferson for his

paper.

Displaying a crusader's zeal, Benny
adopted the vituperative style of

journalism then prevailing. By 1797,

the Aurora had a circulation of more
than 1700 copies and was the most
widely read paper in the country.

The editor's partisanship provoked a

hostile response, and violence

mounted around 322 Market. Here, a

few steps from the spot where Debo-
rah Franklin had stood her ground
against the Stamp Act rioters in

1765, Benny's windows were smashed
three times within a few months. By
the summer of 1798, he was so em-
broiled in controversy—threatened

even with a jail sentence on the

charge of libeling President Washing-

ton and inciting sedition—that he felt

he should stay in town, to prepare

his defense, in spite of an epidemic

of yellow fever. He caught the fever

and died at 29, exactly a week after

the birth of his fourth son. "The
memory of this scoundrel cannot be

too highly execrated," gloated the

Federalist press. Posterity passed a

fairer judgment: Benjamin Franklin

Bache was a shrill but committed ad-

vocate of freedom. The Aurora of-

fered Philadelphians the first full edi-

torial page and was, in some ways, a

forerunner of modern journalism.

His widow Margaret was a tiny

woman of immense determination.

Right after his death, she announced
that the Aurora would soon reappear

under her direction, and it did. She
teamed up with her husband's right-

hand man, a talented Irishman by the

name of William Duane. Together

they kept the paper going until Jef-

ferson came to power and created a

more favorable political climate. In

1800, Margaret married Duane,
whose first wife had died the same
summer as Benny, and the two con-

tinued to publish the paper at Frank-

lin Court. In 1808, ten years ahead of

Temple, they brought out the first of

a six-volume selection of Franklin's

papers.

This attention to Franklin's legacy

did not extend to his house. A new
generation was rising, with new goals

and wishes. However well planned it

was, the house gradually went down-
hill after the death of the founder.

From 1794 to 1799, it was leased by

the Portuguese minister to the

United States. Then it served succes-

sively as a boarding house, the home
of a female academy, a coffee house

and hotel. Sally Bache returned to

Franklin Court to die in 1808, and
Richard shared the house with the

African Free School until his death in

1812.

By then the land had increased

enormously in value while the house

was only a relic from another age.

Thus, less than 50 years after it was
built, it was demolished to make way
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for new construction. The printing

office, too, was razed. Two rows of

houses facing the court were built, the

street was opened up, and later in the

century the Market Street houses were
"modernized" in the current fashion.

In 1954, the Federal Government
acquired the site as part of Independ-

ence National Historical Park, and the

Park Service soon began extensive his-

torical and archeological investigations.

From this has come the present stun-

ning interpretive development of the

site: the steel outlines of the house and
printing office, the reconstructed Mar-
ket Street houses, many interesting

artifacts associated with the court, a

colorful array of exhibits, and part of

the original foundations of Franklin's

"good house."

"I am got into my niche, after

being kept out of it 24 years by for-

eign employments. Tis a very good
house that I built so long ago to re-

tire into, without being able till now
to enjoy it. I am again surrounded by
my friends, with a fine family of

grandchildren about my knees, and
an affectionate good daughter and
son-in-law to take care of me. And
after fifty years of public service, I

have the pleasure to find the esteem
of my country with regard to me un-

diminished. ..." November 24,

1786.
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Franklin's "Tepid Bath

When Franklin extended his

house in 1786, he installed this

elaborate heated bath. It

worked on principles devel-

oped long ago in China. A
white cedar tub—about 6 feet

long, 2'/2 feet wide, and 2 feet

deep—sat on wide paving

stones over a maze through

which heated air circulated.

The heated air was started in

motion by building two small

fires at A and B (figures 2 and

3). When the fire at B was ex-

tinguished, the heat from A
continued to rush through the

maze toward the exit at B,

warming the stones and the

tub which sat on them.

This heated bath, said Ben-

jamin Rush, "smoothed the

descent of Dr. Franklin down
the hill of life and helped pro-

long it beyond 84 years.
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"I am too old to follow print-

ing again myself, " wrote

Franklin to a friend a year be-

fore his death, "but, loving the

business, I have brought up my
grandson Benjamin to it, and

have built and furnished a

printing house. "Among the

equipment Franklin brought

from France for Benny s use

was this set of stencils made
by the venerable Paris firm of

Bery. The set is now in the

collection of the American

Philosophical Society.

Benny sketched this profile

of his grandfather a few
months before his death.
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ine iviarKet street Houses

The Market Street houses,

now restored on the exterior,

are our only architectural leg-

acy from Franklin. He started

building nos. 316 and 318 (the

two buildings flanking the

arched passageway) in 1 786.

When they were finished a

year later, he put up 322 (far

right) on the site of the old

carriageway into the court.

Aside from their associations

with Franklin, buildings 316

and 322 are notable as the seat

of that precursor of modern
journalism, the General Ad-
vertiser later styled Aurora,

which flourished between 1790

and 1809. Under the combat-

ive editorship of Benjamin F.

Bache and his successor Wil-

liam Duane, the paper took a

leading part in the political

controversies of the day.

Duane began the prac-

tice of printing unsigned com-
mentary on the editorial page.
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The Search for Franklin's House

Before the site was cleared,

this street cut through the

middle of Franklin Is old

property.

The restless city constantly renews it-

self at the expense of our historical

inheritance. If Franklin had built in the

country, as Washington and Jefferson

did, his house would have had a better

chance of surviving. But unhappily

for his posterity, he built in the heart

of the city, and two decades after his

death developers razed the entire court.

When the search for Franklin's

house began in the 1950s, no trace re-

mained above ground and there was
no assurance of anything below. The
property had been intensively built

over during the last century. Even the

houses along Market Street, though

still standing, had been so thoroughly

altered that only the original founda-

tions and party walls remained.

The first archeological samplings in

1953, taken from basements and vacant

lots, turned up bits of old masonry
and 18th-century ceramics. Plans

were thereupon laid for a more am-
bitious dig. When the court was cleared

in 1958, excavations began in earnest.

It was then that the original founda-

tions of Franklin's house plus thousands

of household artifacts were found,

greatly stimulating interest in the site.

Excavations in 1970 and 1973 turned

up the rest of the house foundations,

the footings of the garden wall, and
many more 18th-century artifacts.

Some of the most interesting objects

came from privy pits and wells, which
served as trash dumps.

While none of the ceramics shown
here can be specifically associated

with Franklin or his family, they do
illustrate the type of everyday ware
used by the families living in the court.

The original party walls at

322 Market were left exposed
as an exhibit-in-place.
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This punch bowl, found in a privy pit at

316 Market, came from Bristol. England. 1730-

40. The two ceramics above, an Oriental

porcelain saucer and a Staffordshire teapot,

were retrieved from a well at 314 Market. They

date from the mid- 18th centurv.
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A Tribute in Steel

Because so little was known about the

original house, Franklin Court was
developed as a memorial rather than

as a reconstruction. The architect

chosen was Robert Venturi, a Phila-

delphian with a gift for vernacular

expression. Working closely with the

Park Service, he and his colleagues

devised a simple but appealing plan.

The Market Street houses, about

which much was known, were restored

on the exterior while inside they were
adapted to a variety of services for

visitors. A museum was placed un-

derground, freeing the court to become

again the airy garden it was in Franklin's

day. Then, in a masterly stroke, the

architects suggested, through ghost

structures of steel frames, the house

and printing office— minimal sculp-

tures of a sort in a setting rich with

historical allusion.

In the tradition of great monuments,
the memorial combines extremes

of scale. The towering building out-

lines contrast with quotations by the

Franklins cut into the paving. The
symbolism of steel frames contrasts with

the literal information in the exhibits

below ground.
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Museum entrance

2. Outline ofFranklin 's house
3. Outline of Bache 's printing office

4. Aurora subscription office

5. Printing office / binder

6. Archeological exh ib it

l.U.S. Post Office

8. U.S. Postal Museum
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The Underground Museum

The museum beneath the house site

is in vivid contrast with the quiet,

metaphorical scene above. Exhibits

combine the traditional with the un-

conventional to build a portrait of the

many-sided master of Franklin Court.

Noteworthy are several pieces of

furniture— including the original desk

in the house— belonging to Franklin,

several scientific instruments, a show
that dramatizes through miniature

tableaus (right) famous episodes in

Franklin's life, and a film in which
viewers meet Franklin as a family man
rather than as the stiff figure of

historical legend.

The Printing Office

The daily demonstrations in this shop

draw attention to the trade followed

by both Franklin and his grandson,

Benjamin Franklin Bache. Through
broadsides and other products of the

press, visitors learn about the role of

printers in the 18th century and their

influence on things social and political.

Although the shop is located in a

building never owned by Franklin (320

Market), it is just a few steps from the

site of the print shop he built in 1786

for young Benny. The building im-

mediately west, 322 Market, once
housed the office of Bache's Aurora.
That office has now been restored

and a book bindery added to serve the

print shop.
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Related Sites in Philadelphia

Independence Hall is indelibly

associated with Franklin. The
political roles he enacted here

include colonial legislator,

delegate to the 2d Continental

Congress and the Federal

Convention, and President of
Pennsylvania.

Christ Church Cemetery, Fifth

and Arch Streets, is the burial

place ofDeborah and Benjamin
Franklin. An unpretentious

stone slab, simply inscribed,

marks the grave.

Philosophical Hall (left), home
of the American Philosophical

Society, traces its origin to

Franklin. The oldest learned

society in America, it is today

a center for the study of 18th-

century scientific thought.

Library Hall, in its west facade,

is a reconstruction of the

original building of the Library

Company, founded by Franklin

in 1731. This building houses

the study collections of the

American Philosophical Society.

Pennsylvania Hospital, the first

hospital in the colonies, was
another significant social insti-

tution in whose origins Franklin

had a hand. The original build-

ing (now the east wing) is still

in use.

Benjamin Franklin National

Memorial, a part of Franklin

Institute, is both a shrine to

Franklin and an exhibit of
original artifacts associated

with his life and work.
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National Park

The National Park Service expresses its apprecia-

tion to all those who made the preparation and

production of this handbook possible.
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